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          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Good afternoon.

          3  The Committee on Governmental Operations is called

          4  to order. And I do hope everyone is warmly attired.

          5  We are not saving money, it is just that the heating

          6  system is not very good here, and I will witness, I

          7  will attest to the fact that if you sneeze you are

          8  doing the right thing because I frankly think it's

          9  far too cold in here.

         10                 My name is Mary Pinkett. I am the

         11  Chair of the Committee and today the Committee on

         12  Governmental Operations will consider to bills.

         13                 The first is Intro. No. 723, which

         14  will enable candidates who have participated in the

         15  Campaign Finance Program to pay their campaign

         16  debts.

         17                 Campaign expenditures are ordinarily

         18  difficult to predict and plan for, therefore, it's

         19  not unusual for a candidate to find him or herself

         20  in debt following the election.

         21                 The current Campaign Finance Law

         22  restricts the amount and sources a participating

         23  candidate may collect in order to repay debts.

         24                 Intro. No. 723 is intended to remedy

         25  this handicap by lessening these restrictions.
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          2                 The second bill is Intro. No. 995-A,

          3  which will extend the time for which the City may

          4  appoint members of the newly expanded City Board of

          5  Health.

          6                 At the last November election, the

          7  voters approved the referendum, revising the City

          8  Charter to expand the Board of Health from five to

          9  11 members.

         10                 The purpose of this expansion is to

         11  provide a broader base of expertise on the Board to

         12  better address the special health needs of this

         13  City.

         14                 The problem, however, is that the

         15  Charter Revision Commission drafted this law to take

         16  effect in early December, well before the Mayor and

         17  the Council have had time to carefully select

         18  members to fill the new Board seats.  Therefore,

         19  Intro. No. 995-A, a proposed amendment, the current

         20  law to extend its effective date to June 1st, 2002,

         21  which will allow for sufficient time, time to

         22  recruit qualified board members.

         23                 What we're trying to do is to make

         24  sure that the interim period will provide adequate

         25  coverage for the people of this City to have health
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          2  coverage to meet the needs of the people of this

          3  City.

          4                 We're going to have our hearing

          5  commence first with the -- I believe we have people

          6  to testify for the Committee?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MOJICA: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: You are from

          9  where?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MOJICA: The

         11  Health Department.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: The Health

         13  Department? Fine.

         14                 And would you come and approach the

         15  stand and identify yourselves?

         16                 Would you give these to the

         17  Sergeant-At-Arms, and they will do that for you.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 Your name and title.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MOJICA: Good

         21  afternoon, Madam Chairperson, and members of the

         22  Committee.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MOJICA: I am

         24  Benjamin Mojica, Deputy Commissioner of Health.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Excuse me, there
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          2  is a seat for you at the end there. You may sit

          3  there, too. It would be depressive not to have a

          4  woman at the table. Have a seat, please.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MOJICA: Thank you

          6  very much.

          7                 With me today is Mr. Wilfred Lopez,

          8  who is right next to me, to my right. He is the

          9  General Counsel for the Health Department, and to my

         10  far right is Ms. Fran Paris, who is our Governmental

         11  Affairs person.

         12                 We want to thank you very much for

         13  considering this important technical amendment to

         14  New York City's Charter in relation to the effective

         15  date of Charter amendments concerning the Board of

         16  Health and for giving us the opportunity to come

         17  here today and discuss the purpose of Intro. 995-A.

         18                 As you know, on November 6th, New

         19  York City voters approved an amendment to the City

         20  Charter expanding the membership of the New York

         21  City's Board of Health from five members to 11

         22  members, and terminating the current Board effective

         23  30 days after such voters' approval.

         24                 The Mayor must appoint new members to

         25  the Board of Health, subject to the advice and
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          2  consent of the City Council. I am therefore urging

          3  you to enact legislation which would amend the

          4  Charter revision so that it takes effect on June 1,

          5  2002, or the date upon which the ten members of the

          6  reconstituted and expanded board other than the

          7  Chairperson have been duly appointed and qualified,

          8  whichever is earlier.

          9                 This is merely a technical amendment

         10  to delay the effective date of the Charter Revision

         11  for the purpose of assuring the continuation of the

         12  terms of the current members of the Board, and

         13  allowing time for the process of advice and consent

         14  of new appointments by the City Council.

         15                 The main function of the Board of

         16  Health is to promulgate the New York City Health

         17  Code, a significant body of law that can encompass

         18  any matter within the jurisdiction of the Department

         19  of Health.

         20                 The Board of Health generally meets

         21  at least once every quarter and the next scheduled

         22  meeting of the Board of Health is in March of 2002.

         23                 However, the Board of Health also has

         24  essential emergency powers during the prevalence of

         25  an epidemic or in the presence of great and imminent

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            8

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  peril to the public health.

          3                 For example, Section 563 of the City

          4  Charter provides that "in the presence of great and

          5  imminent peril to the public health, the Board of

          6  Health, having first taken and filed among its

          7  records what it regards as sufficient proof to

          8  authorize a declaration of such peril, shall take

          9  such measures, and order the Department to do such

         10  acts beyond those duly provided for the preservation

         11  of health, et cetera."

         12                 In light of the events of September

         13  11, and subsequent bioterrorism attacks, it is even

         14  more imperative that a duly-constituted Board of

         15  Health be available to exercise these powers.

         16                 For example, the exercise of these

         17  powers could be necessary in the face of an outbreak

         18  of smallpox or other disease, whether naturally

         19  occurring or the result of bioterrorism, which might

         20  require immediate action.

         21                 I therefore urge the City Council to

         22  quickly enact this technical change, which could be

         23  essential to the public health of the City.

         24                 Thank you very much, and we are

         25  available for questions, if you have any.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank

          3  you.

          4                 Are there any questions from my

          5  colleagues? No?

          6                 Thank you very much.

          7                 Is there anyone else to testify on

          8  the Board of Health issue?

          9                 Thank you very much.

         10                 We're now going to deal with Intro.

         11  723. I believe Mr. Berger is here?

         12                 MR. BERGER: In the 24 years since

         13  I've left the City Council, this is the first time

         14  I've appeared before a Council Committee to testify

         15  and it is a pleasure to be here, and I thank you.

         16                 We just yelled when I was here. It

         17  worked very well.

         18                 My name is Henry Berger. I'm here to

         19  urge the adoption of Intro. No. 723. I'm an attorney

         20  and I've represented a number of candidates who have

         21  participated in the New York City Campaign Finance

         22  Program.

         23                 Some of those candidates have, upon

         24  the completion of their campaign, faced campaign

         25  debts. Some campaign debts are simply the result of
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          2  excessive spending or a promised campaign

          3  contribution not arriving.

          4                 In other campaigns, at the end of the

          5  campaign there is money available to pay all

          6  outstanding obligations, but on advice of Council,

          7  those campaigns hold back some money pending their

          8  audit by the Campaign Finance Board.

          9                 That audit may not be completed until

         10  six months, a year, or even two years or longer

         11  after Election Day. The result of the audit is

         12  usually a finding, as many of you know, by the

         13  Campaign Finance Board, that certain expenditures

         14  that any campaign would consider usual and necessary

         15  for the campaign being disallowed by the CFB.

         16                 By disallowing the expenditures, the

         17  CFB deems that expenditure not to have been made for

         18  the purposes of determining how much of the matching

         19  funds the campaign must return to the CFB.

         20                 As a result, money put aside to pay

         21  outstanding obligations is used to return matching

         22  funds to the CFB, leaving the campaign unable to pay

         23  its debt.

         24                 As you all know, if a candidate has

         25  left office, and is not running for another office,
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          2  it is extremely difficult to raise political money.

          3  Those individuals who are most likely to help such a

          4  candidate, a candidate's family and closest friends,

          5  have in many cases already contributed the maximum

          6  amount allowed under the Campaign Finance Act.

          7                 They currently may not contribute

          8  again for obligations incurred in a current

          9  election, even to pay off debts many years after the

         10  election.

         11                 Intro. 723 provides a very narrow way

         12  relief to those candidates who are out of office,

         13  and are not running for office and have outstanding

         14  debts from a prior election.

         15                 Intro. 723 permits a candidate who

         16  has participated in a CFB program, and has incurred

         17  debts, to raise a limited amount of additional money

         18  from contributors who have already contributed the

         19  maximum allowed. It applies only after at least four

         20  years have elapsed since the election in question,

         21  and only to former candidates who are not and have

         22  not been a candidate in a subsequent covered

         23  election.

         24                 In that case, a candidate may receive

         25  additional contributions up to the usual
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          2  contribution limit for that office, solely for the

          3  purpose of repaying the debts of the campaign and

          4  related administrative expenses.

          5                 If additional money is raised beyond

          6  that necessary to pay those debts, the money must be

          7  returned to the contributors.

          8                 Intro. 723 also requires reporting of

          9  such fundraising activities to the CFB in much the

         10  same way that all other contributions are reported.

         11                 One of the purposes of the Campaign

         12  Finance Act is to prevent campaign contributors from

         13  purchasing influence in governmental decision,

         14  because the candidates have not been candidates for

         15  at least four years, they are not running for

         16  office, it is unlikely that the contribution

         17  received under this proposal are made for the

         18  purpose of buying political influence. Such a

         19  candidate has no political influence to sell.

         20                 Intro. 723 simply permits candidates

         21  who are no longer in a position to easily raise

         22  political money to once more go to their family and

         23  closest friend and seek contributions to fulfill

         24  their obligation to pay their long outstanding

         25  campaign debts.
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          2                 I urge the adoption of Intro. No.

          3  723. If there are any questions I would be glad to

          4  answer.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Madam Chair?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Council Member

          7  Sabini.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I don't have

          9  the language of the bill, which is unusual, but what

         10  prevents -- what is the restriction? You said it's

         11  only for people who are not in the position to raise

         12  it, what does it say in there?

         13                 MR. BERGER: The bill only applies in

         14  Section 1 to a candidate. It only applies beginning

         15  four years after the covered election to a candidate

         16  who has not been a participating candidate in a

         17  subsequent covered election.

         18                 So, you have to have been out four

         19  years and you cannot then be participating in a

         20  covered election.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay.

         22                 MR. BERGER: So, it's at least two

         23  cycles. You're in at least your second cycle beyond

         24  your covered election.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Council Member

          3  Reed.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Madam

          5  Chair.

          6                 Mr. Berger, how are you?

          7                 MR. BERGER: I'm very good.

          8                 How are you?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Fine, thank you.

         10                 I may know the answer to this

         11  question but it has been put to me by some

         12  well-intentioned people, so let me get it on the

         13  record.

         14                 The presumption is, I guess am I

         15  understanding then that a candidate falls into this

         16  category has spent money, more money than he or she

         17  has raised, but that money that they spent still

         18  fell within the cap of the allowable money; is that

         19  correct?

         20                 MR. BERGER: That's correct.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So, they didn't

         22  violate any laws in terms of the limitation on how

         23  much they could spend, they just were not able to

         24  raise, there was a debt, they borrowed money, as

         25  you're allowed to in the campaign, they were unable
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          2  to pay that back.

          3                 MR. BERGER: Well, usually it's not

          4  debts. Usually it's obligations to vendors. They've

          5  accrued bills at the end of the campaign, they

          6  haven't paid them. The audit gets completed,

          7  something else comes up. So, it's usually an accrual

          8  to vendors not somebody has loaned the campaign

          9  money and they are waiting to get paid back.

         10  Although it could conceivably cover those debts also

         11  if there is money loaned to the campaign.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Well, because

         13  the understanding is that on the campaign part of

         14  the Campaign Finance Law you're supposed to pay back

         15  the debt just prior to the election. Now, we all

         16  know how silly that is, but that is part of the

         17  rules, am I right?

         18                 MR. BERGER: Right. But there are two

         19  sets of debt that it may apply to. In a mayoral

         20  election, a citywide election, somebody can loan the

         21  campaign $4,500, and although that's deemed a

         22  contribution, it's still within the campaign limit.

         23                 After Election Day you can borrow

         24  money to pay off vendor debt.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Okay.
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          2                 MR. BERGER: And you may in fact

          3  borrow more and it will not be deemed a contribution

          4  at that point.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Council Member

          7  Moskowitz.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Welcome,

          9  Mr. Berger. Nice to see you here.

         10                 You said in your testimony that

         11  Intro. 723 permits the candidate to participate who

         12  is participating in the program and has incurred

         13  debts to raise a limited amount of additional money.

         14  I didn't, and I must have missed it, I didn't in the

         15  bill see what the sum was. Is there a sum that I'm

         16  missing?

         17                 MR. BERGER: They can raise as much as

         18  they owe? They can raise the amount of their debts.

         19  If they raise more than their debts, the bill

         20  provides that any excess must be paid back to the

         21  contributors last in, first out.

         22                 But you can only raise the amount

         23  that gives your outstanding debt, and related

         24  administrative expenses to keep the Committee

         25  running until you pay off your debt.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: So this

          3  would in no way affect the cap on spending. You

          4  would still have to abide, if you were a participant

          5  in the campaign finance program?

          6                 MR. BERGER: You still have to comply

          7  with the cap, and if you don't the Campaign Finance

          8  Board continues to have its remedies, three-for-one

          9  fines and withholding of matching funds and all the

         10  other pieces of the program that you're aware of.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         12                 And I didn't quite understand your

         13  answer to Council Member Reed's question.

         14                 You have to be out of office for four

         15  years, but you could theoretically incur debt, be

         16  out for eight years, and then come back into the

         17  system, I mean run for office. That would be, you

         18  could partake of these --

         19                 MR. BERGER: As soon as you start

         20  running again, if you haven't taken advantage of

         21  this, if you start running again, if you haven't

         22  taken advantage, you cannot take advantage of it at

         23  that point, if you are a participant in an election.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Great.

         25                 Thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Any further

          3  questions?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: Yes.

          5                 I'm just thinking out loud, there are

          6  a great many of us, two-thirds of us will be leaving

          7  pretty soon and I know that in your testimony you

          8  alluded to a four-year period after which you will

          9  be eligible for raising funds with which to pay off

         10  campaign debts, but I'm seeing that the next term

         11  will be for two years. To what extent could it be

         12  modified to suit, you know, those of us who will be

         13  leaving office?

         14                 MR. BERGER: When we had discussions

         15  originally with the Campaign Finance Board on this,

         16  there was the desire on their part to limit this, to

         17  make a this very limited bill, and their sense, and

         18  we didn't disagree with it, was that if you're only

         19  out of office a short time you're able to raise some

         20  additional money, the longer you're out, you're not.

         21  And the four-year period is an arbitrary period

         22  based upon the usual term of office. So, it's

         23  arbitrary, but it kicks in when it becomes really

         24  difficult for people to raise money, and that's why

         25  the four-year period was chosen, but that was done
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          2  after some discussion with CFB on this issue.

          3                 As you may be aware, I filed a

          4  request for an advisory opinion on this back in

          5  about 1998 to see if we could do this under the

          6  existing law, and the CFB said no, seek legislation,

          7  and this is the legislation that's been generated by

          8  that advisory opinion.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: My only other

         10  concern is the fact that you have limited

         11  contributions only for friends and families. What

         12  about agencies, such as printers? Would they fall

         13  into a category of say forgiving those debts or

         14  making an in time contribution against those

         15  campaign debts, if they so desire?

         16                 MR. BERGER: Any vendor can make a

         17  commercial reasonable agreement with a candidate

         18  participating in a program in terms of debt, and as

         19  long as it's commercially reasonable, they can do

         20  that.

         21                 I use the friends and family as the

         22  people most likely to have maxed out on your

         23  campaign already. You can go back to anybody who is

         24  maxed out and raise money. You can go to anybody

         25  else and raise money within the limits. This just
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          2  gives you an additional limit to seek funds from

          3  people who are most likely to be willing to help you

          4  but under the current law are unable to.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: Thank you.

          6                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Council Member

          8  Watkins.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Thank you,

         10  Madam Chair.

         11                 I think my question is probably

         12  answered. For example, those of us who ran for

         13  office in 1997, and did not, could not run for

         14  re-election now, if we have outstanding campaign

         15  debt that is still unpaid, we would have to wait

         16  four years from the time we leave office now?

         17                 MR. BERGER: No. It's four years from

         18  the covered election, which in your case would have

         19  been the 1997 election.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Okay.

         21                 MR. BERGER: Four years after the date

         22  of a covered election. So, it would start probably

         23  on -- the way the CFB counts years, it would

         24  probably start on January 12th of 2002.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Council Member

          3  Carrion.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Thank you,

          5  Madam Chair.

          6                 I want to be crystal clear, because

          7  we have a complicated law on the books already and

          8  we just got done with an election and CFB rules are

          9  in many cases burdensome. It's tough. We've

         10  discussed it in this Committee, we've all been

         11  through that mill.

         12                 Here's my concern, Henry. My concern

         13  is that we are sort of inviting irresponsibility by

         14  saying to people you can overspend, or you can incur

         15  debt, but you can't quite raise the money for it and

         16  then worry about it later. That's my fundamental

         17  concern.

         18                 And I guess going back it would help

         19  people who have done that. You know, I tried to be

         20  as responsible as I possibly could in my campaign

         21  and we've done very well, we're going to go through

         22  an audit in a couple of days with CFB, and I think

         23  we're going to come out on the other side very well.

         24  We have no outstanding debt. As they say, we've done

         25  well.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            22

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 Does this legislation assume that the

          3  party that would be -- that this would apply to is a

          4  party that didn't reach the maximum spending limit?

          5                 MR. BERGER: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: So, let's say

          7  Henry Berger is running for Mayor and the cap is 5

          8  million, right? Or whatever it is, I don't know what

          9  it is -- so, you would have had to spend less than

         10  $5 million and this way you have the cushion to

         11  raise up to the maximum that you can pay off your

         12  debt?

         13                 Am I reading this right? Because it

         14  just doesn't seem to make sense to encourage people

         15  to incur debt that they can't carry.

         16                 MR. BERGER: I think there are two

         17  parts to the question. One part is the incurring of

         18  the debt, the other is the exceeding of the campaign

         19  limit. Let me deal with the exceeding of the

         20  campaign limit, because I think that's easier.

         21                 If a person exceeds the campaign

         22  limit under current rules, and this does not change

         23  that at all, they are subject to and are regularly

         24  fined $3 for every $1 in excess and they're also

         25  penalized by withholding a further matching fund.
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          2  It's a very, very expensive way to spend a few extra

          3  dollars.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Yes.

          5                 MR. BERGER: This doesn't affect that

          6  at all.

          7                 What this affects is the person who

          8  has left the campaign with debt.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Right.

         10                 MR. BERGER: Most candidates who I

         11  have dealt with, it's a limited universe, but the

         12  candidates I have dealt with are for the most part

         13  responsible. There are some who simply say, do this,

         14  we'll worry about raising the money later.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Right.

         16                 MR. BERGER: And if you're the

         17  campaign manager, that's what you want to hear

         18  because you just want to spend the money.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Pull your

         20  hair out later.

         21                 MR. BERGER: That's right.

         22                 But a couple things happen. One is,

         23  as you are aware, at the end of the campaign,

         24  particularly, some of the controls sort of don't

         25  always hold, money gets spent that you're not even
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          2  aware of. People make promises on contributions,

          3  they don't always come through. But the biggest

          4  problem that my clients have had is, they go through

          5  the audit and during the audit CFB rules that

          6  expenses are not proper expenses. You, who have been

          7  involved in politics, and I, who have had the good

          8  fortune to run for office, know that these are just

          9  the normal and usual expenses. Sending out thank you

         10  letters to your volunteers so CFB can come back and

         11  say that's not a proper expense.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: It's not a

         13  covered.

         14                 MR. BERGER: And they disallow it, and

         15  then they recapture the money from you, because if

         16  it's an improper expense that was never made,

         17  therefore it's in your account, therefore, it's

         18  surplus funds, they get back all the surplus funds.

         19  And you're suddenly sitting with a hole in your bank

         20  account for the money they recaptured and you can't

         21  pay your vendors.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: But then

         23  their penalty has no teeth because we're giving the

         24  room for people to sort of play in that cloudy area.

         25                 I'm trying to be the devils advocate,
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          2  because if we're going to make a law, for God sake,

          3  we ought to make a good one, and I just want to make

          4  sure we're doing the right thing here.

          5                 MR. BERGER: But that's not a teeth

          6  issue. Most of these people, other than the few who

          7  are being fined $4 for every dollar of overspending,

          8  have not reached the spending limit, and, you know,

          9  even with this law, you still have to go out and

         10  you've got to raise the money.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Right.

         12                 MR. BERGER: Just as if somebody has

         13  given you $3,500 for your Borough President

         14  Campaign, you can go back and ask them for another

         15  $3,500 but you've got to get on the phone and make

         16  that phone call. Raising money, I found, was the

         17  most onerous part of running for office. You've

         18  still got to raise some money, it just gives you a

         19  pool of people who are most likely to contribute to

         20  help you to it.

         21                 I don't think it encourages

         22  lawlessness, and it certainly doesn't encourage

         23  debt, if you've got to go out and raise the money.

         24  The biggest concern of a candidate is, you know,

         25  I've got to raise the money. I'd rather raise it for
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          2  the next campaign rather than for the last one. And

          3  people would rather give you money for the next

          4  campaign than for the last one.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: If we argue

          6  sort of in the theoretical, we probably should stay

          7  in the real, just in the theoretical for a moment, a

          8  candidate could conceivably raise half the money

          9  that they're allowed, knowing that they can worry

         10  about it later. I mean, in theory, they can say, you

         11  know what? We can do this later. Those are the lines

         12  that I'm concerned that people will cross, and we

         13  should -- either we have a campaign finance law that

         14  works -- you know, I'm at the point, I have to tell

         15  you, that I don't know if we should even have it. I

         16  mean, I think, you know, maybe we should be going

         17  back to some --

         18                 MR. BERGER: That's a fascinating

         19  debate, I want to engage and I'm just not sure --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: I want to

         21  engage in it, too.

         22                 MR. BERGER: But, look, if a person

         23  raises half, they can still go out and raise the

         24  other half. All this does is it says that there are

         25  certain people who have given the max who can give
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          2  again, more than four years later.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Right.

          4                 MR. BERGER: They can still go out and

          5  raise additional money.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: I understand.

          7                 MR. BERGER: That limit still applies.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Thank you.

          9                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I think also one

         11  of the things that we have learned through trial and

         12  error is the fact that the law is a continual

         13  process of changes, and that I believe every law has

         14  to work itself out in terms of experience, and I

         15  don't know of any law that has been written that is

         16  so pure, so perfect that at some point it does not

         17  have to be reassessed, examined, et cetera. So, that

         18  what seemed to have been perfect in its beginning,

         19  may upon analysis at a later point need to be

         20  changed.

         21                 I would suggest that the Campaign

         22  Finance Law, which enable people to run office, it

         23  was not mean to inhibit the ability of people to

         24  serve, and if you have them entrenched in debt, I

         25  think that inhibits the process.
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          2                 Now, this is something that we can

          3  look at in a sense that unfortunately we don't have

          4  Bloombergs running all over the place, we have one

          5  Bloomberg, and we should not suggest that every

          6  candidate is going to be a Bloomberg, they are very

          7  few and very far between, and it is rather difficult

          8  to get on the phone and ask people for contributions

          9  or find people who will give in large sums, and

         10  sometimes when you're new at this, or when you're

         11  beginning, or you think you have everyone, you don't

         12  have as many as you thought.

         13                 I think Campaign Finance Board feels

         14  that this should be examined, it should be reviewed,

         15  and that's the process that is possible, but the

         16  question is, how long should you have to bear this

         17  debt, if indeed, there is a way in which this can be

         18  resolved and is not disastrous for the City of New

         19  York, but it certainly helps people who were I think

         20  good candidates who did not go forward with the

         21  intent of doing evil to the City of New York, and

         22  what we're talking about is relieving debts that

         23  were not intentionally gathered. It can be

         24  justified, they have gone through an audit, they

         25  have met the requirements of the law as it existed,
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          2  and what we're talking about now is with that

          3  process in mind, taking the next step to correct a

          4  problem that has resulted because of things that

          5  were not changed and can only be changed by a law

          6  that would alleviate a circumstance.

          7                 Now, should there be a change or

          8  should something else be done, that's going to be up

          9  to the next legislative body I think to decide -

         10  looking at this legislation, looking at these

         11  circumstances, to decide what other inhibiting

         12  requirements they would put in that legislation. But

         13  if there is a way in which we could move this

         14  legislation, I think we should consider all

         15  prospects.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: Madam Chair,

         17  may I ask you a question?

         18                 How would the Board react to this?

         19  Are they in favor or do we have testimonies from

         20  them or a reaction from them?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: The action would

         22  be that it should be restricted and not include

         23  people after a certain time period I believe, and

         24  they are going to submit their testimony by fax, as

         25  to when they feel there should be a cutoff. But if
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          2  you do this, it should have a sunset. They would be

          3  in favor of a sunset clause. They are going to fax

          4  us that testimony. They are not opposed to the

          5  action but they are concerned about the impact of

          6  the legislation, as it addresses your point of

          7  responsibility.

          8                 Okay, Council Member Watkins, did you

          9  have a comment?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: I just wanted

         11  to give a brief scenario to my colleague, Council

         12  Member Carrion. I would have welcomed this ten years

         13  ago. My first campaign included the primary and then

         14  a runoff and then a general election.

         15                 I had a vendor that did literature

         16  and so on for me, and we were paying as best we

         17  could as we got money and we had to do a lot of

         18  fundraising. Unfortunately, through some sloppy

         19  in-house accounting or billing of the vendor, we

         20  never got their final bill, there was an additional

         21  piece of literature that they did because of the

         22  runoff. When we got the bill, Campaign Finance had

         23  already done all the accounting and that was it, we

         24  were finished, we had no more money.

         25                 I felt an obligation to try to pay
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          2  the debt off. I was very annoyed that it came in

          3  after my campaign finance account was closed, and we

          4  spoke to Campaign Finance explaining what happened

          5  and at that time they said there was nothing they

          6  could do, I had no recourse. And for a subsequent

          7  campaign two years later, I could not take that

          8  money to pay a bill from two years before.

          9                 So, I did it in dribbs and drabs, and

         10  it took me until 1997 to pay that off, but I

         11  couldn't do under the Campaign Finance Law, I could

         12  not do fundraising to pay that bill because it was

         13  from the '91 election. So, you know, I just felt

         14  that I had to do what I could do to pay it, but it

         15  certainly was not my intention to have outstanding

         16  debt. It happened that way, unfortunately.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: All right.

         18                 We have to vote at this point. Can we

         19  call the vote now?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: Madam Chair,

         21  may I ask if this response on the Board could be

         22  read into the record.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: This will be

         24  placed into the record.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: All right.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK: Pinkett.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Aye.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sabini.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Madam Chair,

          6  may I be excused to explain my vote?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Madam Chair, I

          9  just wanted to say that after ten years of serving

         10  on this Committee, that I wanted to salute the work

         11  you've done during my time serving on the Committee,

         12  on behalf of City workers, on behalf of the

         13  innovative Campaign Finance Law that this City has

         14  on protecting this City from willy-nilly

         15  privatization of services, I think we've been

         16  even-handed in that, in dealing with that effort,

         17  and in just trying to make government work, whether

         18  it's making the courtrooms clean, or making the

         19  City's electoral process a more user-friendly one.

         20  And I thank you for your leadership, and sometimes I

         21  don't always know where we're going, but we

         22  eventually got there, and I vote aye on both items.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK: Watkins.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: I would like
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          2  to second most of my colleague, Councilman Sabini's

          3  remark. I will just edit out the portion about not

          4  knowing where we were going, and say, thank you to

          5  the Chair for a job well done, and I vote aye.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: Henry.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: Just for

          8  clarification, are we calling the question on 723,

          9  or both?

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: On both.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: Aye.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Carrion.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Madam Chair,

         14  may I please be excused to explain my vote?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Thank you.

         17                 First let me echo the sentiments of

         18  my colleagues in congratulating you and thanking you

         19  for your leadership on this Committee, and I was

         20  privileged to work from day one in the City Council

         21  on this Committee, and we've I think done some very

         22  good things for this City. And to all my colleagues,

         23  I want to share those same sentiments.

         24                 On Intro. No. 995-A I want to vote

         25  yes, and on Intro. No. 723, I'm troubled because we
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          2  need time to review this and to look at the

          3  implications, and I don't think that we have given

          4  it the appropriate hearing time to look at the

          5  permutations in theory, which I think are important

          6  to do in this exercise, and, so, given that I'm not

          7  entirely comfortable with this, at this time, I will

          8  choose to vote no on this item.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reed.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: If I may just

         12  explain my vote?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you.

         15                 I, Madam Chair, want to thank you

         16  also. You have certainly given me opportunity to

         17  grow and learn on this Council. I think you've set

         18  an example for those of us who were returning. It

         19  was a very problematic vote on term limits, I think

         20  you led the debate well. I'm sorry to see all of you

         21  leaving. All of my colleagues on this Committee I

         22  think have allowed me at least to have enough

         23  understanding of the process of government that I

         24  feel capable of moving into the next session, but it

         25  would have been not possible without your
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          2  leadership, and I wanted to take that opportunity to

          3  say thank you. And I also would like to vote aye on

          4  both.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: Moskowitz.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Aye.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: On Intro. 995-A, by a

          8  vote of seven in the affirmative, zero in the

          9  negative and no abstentions, the item is adopted.

         10                 On Intro. 723, by a vote of six in

         11  the affirmative, one in the negative and no

         12  abstentions, both items are adopted. Please sign the

         13  reports.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I'd like to say

         15  it's been a pleasure working with each of you, and

         16  for those, of course, who are staying, I look

         17  forward to the very best for this City, because it's

         18  in your hands now.

         19                 Thank you, and congratulations.

         20                 The meeting is adjourned.

         21                 (Hearing concluded at 2:00 p.m.)

         22
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